IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V

CASE NO.: SC01-952 TFB FILE NO: 2001-70,370(11P)

OMAR JAVIER ARCIA,

Respondent.

/

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

John A. Weiss WEISS & ETKIN Attorney Number 0185229 2937 B-2 Kerry Forest Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32309 (850) 893-5854 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, Omar Javier Arcia, seeks review of the discipline recommended

by the Referee below. He asks this Court to substitute a suspension of six months or less for the three year suspension recommended by the Referee.

The Appellant will be referred to as Mr. Arcia or as Respondent throughout this brief. The Appellee, The Florida Bar, will be referred to as such or as the Bar. References to the transcript of final hearing will be by the designation TR followed by the appropriate page number. The Bar's exhibits will be designated by the symbol BX followed by the appropriate number. Similarly, Respondent's exhibits will be designated RX. References to the Report of Referee will be by the symbol RR followed by the appropriate page number.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to Article V Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

These proceedings were initiated as a result of a complaint brought against Omar J. Arcia by The Florida Bar. Shortly before final hearing in this cause, Mr. Arcia admitted all charges brought against him in the Bar's complaint. Final hearing was, in essence, a dispositional hearing to determine the disciplinary sanction to be imposed.

In his Report of Referee, the Referee recommended that Mr. Arcia be found

guilty of violating Rules 4-8.4(b) (committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects) and Rule 4-8.4(c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. RR11. The Referee recommended that Mr. Arcia be suspended for three years followed by three years of probation with various conditions. The Referee made extensive findings of fact. Unfortunately, under the guise of findings, the Referee also inserted various statements that make it difficult to separate his actual factual findings from mere conclusions or, in some cases suppositions. Respondent will attempt, therefore, to summarize the pertinent facts in this matter recognizing that the Referee's report is much more elaborate.

Mr. Arcia was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1995 and had been a salaried associate of Zarco and Pardo since his admission. He received an annual salary with discretionary bonuses at the end of each year.

In December 1998, Mr. Arcia established Omar J. Arcia, P.A. TR14. He testified that he established the P.A. because in late 1998 he was contemplating leaving the firm or opening up his own practice. TR192.

In mid to late 1999, Mr. Arcia began soliciting the firm's clients with a view towards receiving the fees earned on their work coming directly to him. Early on, he worked on just a few cases, but, by July or August 2000, his solicitation of firm cases escalated. TR81,193,219-220. Mr. Arcia testified that his first diversion began in mid 1999 after a pro bono case he was working on for a family member ended up having fees awarded. TR193.

In the fall of 2000, Robert Zarco became concerned about the lack of referrals he received from a speech he gave to Dunkin Donuts franchise holders. He did not know at the time that Mr. Arcia was representing some of those franchises without the firm's knowledge. When asked, Mr. Arcia professed ignorance of the reason. TR24,43. Subsequently, Mr. Zarco learned of a \$1,208.33 check made payable to Mr. Arcia from a firm client, Steven Inscore. When he asked Mr. Arcia about the check, the latter improperly indicated it was a mistake. TR19,44.

Subsequently, the firm initiated an investigation and learned of Mr. Arcia's P.A. being set up in December 1998. On September 8, 2000, the firm set up a meeting with Mr. Arcia to be attended by all of the partners. Prior to the meeting, the firm had filed suit against Mr. Arcia and unbeknownst to him obtained an injunction freezing all of his personal accounts, including his children's college accounts. At the September 8, 2000 meeting, Mr. Arcia was given two opportunities to voluntarily divulge his diverting funds and clients into his own P.A. When he failed to do so, he was directly confronted with his offenses and admitted them. His explanation for his misconduct at that time was "greed". TR49,50.

The next day, Mr. Arcia brought in all of his financial records and completely disclosed to the firm all diversions and his receipt of all funds. TR84. That meeting, on Saturday, September 9, 2000, lasted about four hours. During that meeting Mr. Arcia was advised that the firm was going to report his conduct to The Florida Bar and that all documentation he had turned over to the firm would be provided to the Bar. TR209.

Mr. Arcia admitted to the Bar's allegation that he diverted approximately \$62,000.00 from the firm. The firm and Mr. Arcia, however, agreed on November 28, 2000 to a settlement of \$60,000.00 to be paid in installments with the first installment of \$35,000.00 due shortly after signing the agreement. On February 6, 2002, the day before final hearing in this cause, Mr. Arcia paid the balance of the \$60,000.00 owed to the firm two years before he was required to do so under his agreement.

Mr. Zarco estimated that Mr. Arcia diverted 12 to 18 clients from the firm. TR30. The Referee estimated 10 to 20 clients were diverted. RR4.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation that Mr. Arcia receive a three year suspension is inconsistent with this Court's past disciplines for similar misconduct. In fact, the longest discipline meted out for analogous conduct is a one year suspension, one third of that recommended by the Referee. The cases with fact patterns closest to Mr. Arcia's, *Florida Bar v. Cox*, 655 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1995) and *Florida Bar v. Gillin*, 484 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 1986) resulted in 30 day and 6 month suspensions respectively.

The Referee did not give proper weight to numerous elements of mitigation. The most glaring example is his failure to acknowledge the sincerity of Mr. Arcia's remorse and contrition. The Referee also overlooked or gave little weight to Mr. Arcia's prompt restitution.

Finally, the Referee improperly found as aggravation several factors that had no support in the record. The most significant are his conclusions that Mr. Arcia impeded Bar disciplinary proceedings and that Mr. Arcia misled the lawyer that set up Mr. Arcia's professional association. Neither conclusion is warranted by the record before the Referee or this Court.

When the Referee's incorrect weighing of mitigation and aggravation are factored in with his disregard of this Court's past disciplines for similar conduct, it becomes apparent that his recommended discipline is inappropriate and that a six month suspension is the discipline that should be imposed in this case.

POINT ON APPEAL

A SUSPENSION OF AT MOST SIX MONTHS, RATHER THEN THE THREE YEARS RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE, IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE FOR RESPONDENT'S CONDUCT IN THE CASE AT BAR

A. THIS COURT'S PAST DISCIPLINARY SANCTIONS OFANALOGOUS CONDUCT SUPPORTS A SUSPENSION OF SIX MONTHS AND IS CONTRARY TO THE THREE YEARS RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE.

Respondent urges this Court to follow its past decisions in similar cases and to reject the Referee's recommended that he be suspended for three years. Respondent argues that a six month suspension is the appropriate sanction for his conduct. This Court has stated on many occasions that it has broad discretion in reviewing a Referee's recommended discipline. See, e.g., *Florida Bar v. Poplack*, 599 So. 2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1992). A review of this Court's past decisions shows that the Referee's recommendation in this case is clearly off the mark and should not be followed.

Perhaps the case with a fact pattern most similar to that before the Court today is *Florida Bar v. Cox*, 655 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1995). Mr. Cox received a thirty day suspension for conduct virtually identical to that engaged in by Mr. Arcia. The Court summarized the facts of the *Cox* case on page 1122 of its opinion when it stated:

Cox accepted cases without the knowledge or the consent of the firm, violating the firm policy against unauthorized outside legal employment. The complaint also alleged that Cox corresponded with clients on these matters and billed clients on firm stationery, and in several cases requested in writing that the clients make payment to him personally rather than to the firm. Further, Cox actually collected and kept some of these fees. Cox initially denied having done so, but when faced with documented evidence in each case, he admitted to having collected these fees.

This Court further noted on page 1123 that Mr. Cox admitted

that he engaged in "moonlighting" while employed as an associate with the law firm, and that he initially denied the fact that he represented outside clients and collected legal fees from those clients.

Mr. Cox argued to the Referee that his representation of his outside clients did not

result in any conflicts of interest. He also argued that it did not cause any "actual or

potential injury" to any client.

Notwithstanding Mr. Cox's arguments, this Court approved the rule violations

found by the Referee. As set forth in footnote one of the Court's opinion, those

violations consisted of the following:

(1) Rule 4-1.7(b) for representing clients without the knowledge and consent of the law firm for which he was working, which could have limited his exercise of independent professional judgment and the representation of those clients or which could have resulted in the law firm having a conflict of interest by accepting a case against an unknown client of Cox;

(2) Rule 4-4.1(a) for representing clients without the knowledge or consent of the law firm for which he was working and for concealing the fact from that firm and in some cases denying such representation; and

(3) Rule 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation pertaining to his performance of work for clients without the consent or authorization of the law firm and attempting to conceal the representation of those clients.

This Court then went on to say on page 1123 of its opinion that the Referee's

recommended 30 day suspension was "consistent with other disciplinary cases"

citing Florida Bar v. Stalnaker, 485 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1986), Florida v. Childers, 582

So. 2d 617 (Fla. 1991), Florida Bar v. Bradham, 446 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1984) and

Florida Bar v. Herzog, 521 So. 2d 1118 (Fla. 1988). Those four lawyers received

suspensions for analogous conduct ranging from 10 days to 90 days.

This Court specifically noted in Cox that it considered the 30 days suspension

"serious punishment." Specifically, the Court stated on page 1123 that

Although Cox's conduct may not have caused serious harm to the clients or to the firm where he was employed, the facts reflect a pattern of intentional misconduct and deception which warrants serious punishment. Cox continued to engage in unauthorized legal employment even after he was specifically warned against it, and, even more importantly, willfully deceived the firm about his conduct. Consistent with the aforementioned cases, we believe a thirty day suspension is an appropriate discipline for Cox given his dishonesty and misrepresentation towards his employer and his clients, as well as his misconduct in diverting fees to his personal account.

Mr. Arcia's conduct in the case at bar was no worse than that engaged in by Mr.

Cox. Yet, the Referee chose to ignore the *Cox* decision and rather than imposing a discipline in line with this Court's past pronouncements, he recommended a three year suspension. Such a discipline completely disregards this Court's past decisions and is clearly one that ignores this Court's holding that disciplinary proceedings are remedial rather than punitive in nature. *DeBock v. State*, 512 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1987).

It is obvious that the Referee completely disregarded this Court's decision in *Cox*. Mr. Cox was found guilty of engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. He accepted cases without his firm's knowledge, thereby violating that firm's policy against unauthorized outside legal employment. Mr. Cox billed his outside clients on firm stationery and asked those outside clients to "make payments to him personally rather than to the firm." When confronted with his conduct, Mr. Cox "initially denied having done so, …." In fact, this Court noted that Mr. Cox engaged "in unauthorized legal employment even after he was specifically warned against it, …." The Court found that he "willfully deceived" his employers about his conduct.

The facts in the *Cox* case are virtually identical to those at bar. Notwithstanding that fact, the Referee would have this Court suspend Mr. Arcia for a period 36 times longer than was meted out to Mr. Cox.

The four cases cited by the Supreme Court in the Cox decision also show that

the Referee's recommendation of a three suspension for Mr. Arcia is completely out of line. While all four cases are somewhat distinguishable, all of them contradict the Referee's recommendation.

The first case cited by the Court in *Cox* as precedent for a 30 day suspension was *Florida Bar v. Stalnaker*, 485 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Stalnaker was suspended by the Court for 90 days instead of the 12 months recommended by the Referee. Mr. Stalnaker was a long-term salaried associate lawyer in a firm with two partners. He also received annual bonuses based on the firm's net profits. The pertinent portions of the Referee's findings of fact were set forth on page 815 in a footnote to the Court's opinion. That footnote stated:

7. Sometime in 1979 or early 1980, the respondent altered his handling of fees and costs being generated by him for the professional association from his cases. Instead of turning all the monies received directly to the association's bookkeeper, on some cases respondent deposited the checks and cash he received directly into his personal bank account at the Barnett Bank of Altamonte Springs and later remitted a portion of those monies in cash to the association's bookkeeper. On other cases, respondent turned over the checks and some portion or all of the cash received directly to the association's bookkeeper. The association maintained its account at a different bank.

8. Respondent systematically diverted a portion of the legal fees being generated by him for the professional association from the association to his own personal bank account and use without informing the bookkeeper or

principals, Jones and Morrison. Respondent followed this improper course of conduct without the permission or knowledge of either Messrs. Jones or Morrison until confronted in late August, 1981. Respondent then left the association.

The Referee also found that Mr. Stalnaker failed to report his excess income on his 1980 tax return (in all likelihood, such conduct constituted felonious tax fraud). The Referee found that the misconduct occurred over two years and constituted conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation as well as conduct adversely reflecting on Mr. Stalnaker's fitness to practice law.

The main distinguishing factor between Stalnaker and the case at bar is, as set out on page 816 of the opinion, the fact that Mr. Stalnaker had reason to believe he had permission from one of the partners to divert the funds in question. The Court then found that Mr. Stalnaker's actions fell short "of a deliberate attempt to steal from the association." The Court intimated on page 817 of its opinion that had Mr. Stalnaker been deliberately "stealing funds from [a] firm" the appropriate discipline would have been the six month suspension imposed in *Florida Bar v. Gillin*, 484 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 1986).

Mr. Stalnaker's case is also distinguished somewhat from the case at bar because he was the main income-generating lawyer in the firm and carried a disproportionate amount of the workload amongst the three lawyers. In *Cox*, the Court also cited *Florida Bar v. Childers*, 582 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 1991) as precedent for its decision. The Referee had recommended that Ms. Childers receive a 90 days suspension for depositing a \$950.00 check belonging to the firm but made payable to her into her personal savings account. The Bar appealed and sought a three year suspension.

In suspending Ms. Childers for 90 days, this Court found that Ms. Childers's acknowledgment of her error, corporation with the Bar, her lack of a prior disciplinary record and her remorse were mitigating circumstances. The Court also noted that her conduct was "a one-time unexplainable aberration" and that no clients or the firm suffered any harm. While Ms. Childers' conduct only happened once, the facts between the two cases are not so disparate that Mr. Arcia deserves a three year suspension as opposed to the 90 days meted out to Ms. Childers.

The third case cited in *Cox*, *Florida Bar v. Bradham*, 446 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1984) was a consent judgment for a 30 days suspension followed by two years probation and payment of costs. The facts in *Bradham* were not set forth in the opinion. Mr. Bradham was, however, found guilty of conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit and misrepresentation. Two Justices dissented and would have rejected the consent judgment. They noted that the Bar's complaint charged Mr. Bradham "with dishonesty in his relations with his law partners." Whatever the fact situation, Mr.

Bradham engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit and misrepresentation and received but a 30 day suspension. That is a far cry from the three years recommended by the Referee in the instant proceedings.

The last case cited in Cox was *Florida Bar v. Herzog*, 521 So. 2d 1118 (Fla. 1988). Mr. Herzog received a 10 day suspension for engaging in "deceptive billing practices" and that he "misrepresented to the clients what they were actually paying for." Id, page 1119. Apparently, Mr. Herzog "adjusted" the bills he sent to his clients so that they would not be "privy to the exorbitant costs" incurred by Mr. Herzog relative to his fees. And after the bill was paid, Mr. Herzog "readjusted" the bill so that the advanced costs would be covered. In essence, the Court pointed out that he falsified his bills to his clients.

The Referee in *Herzog* was unable to determine if his deceptive billing practices deprived his firm of any funds.

Mr. Herzog received but a 10 day suspension. While the facts in his case are clearly not on all fours with those of Mr. Arcia's case, they certainly do not stand for the proposition that Mr. Arcia should receive a suspension over a hundred times longer.

In *Stalnaker*, this Court alluded to *Florida Bar v. Gillin*, 484 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 1986), pointing out that a six month suspension would be the appropriate discipline

for taking funds from a lawyer's firm. Mr. Gillin's conduct was most egregious. Since the facts pertaining to his misconduct were somewhat convoluted, the salient portion of the Court's opinion best describing his misconduct, starting on page 1218, is set out below:

> Gillin represented a client in a divorce in which the client's husband paid Gillin \$5,000 in attorneys fees. This amount was placed in the account maintained by the firm in which Gillin was a partner. All fees which firm members collected were to be placed in the account for distribution pursuant to a fee distribution formula. As part of the property settlement, Gillin was to receive \$75,000 in two equal installments which he was to forward to the client. At some point after the divorce, Gillin informed the client that she owed him \$25,000 in fees, a claim to which she apparently acquiesced. Gillin then instructed his client that upon receipt of the first \$37,500 payment he would pay \$20,000 to her. She was then to provide him with a check for \$12,250 made payable to Contemporary Cars, Inc., located in Orlando, Florida. Upon receipt of that check, Gillin would then pay to the client the balance of the funds from the first payment. The exchange of monies went as planned. Gillin used the check as a down payment on a 1984 Porsche automobile. The dealership returned all but \$1,000 of the down payment so that Gillin could place the funds in a certificate of deposit in an account in his own name. Subsequently, Gillin rented a post office box. When he received the second installment of the property settlement in the amount of \$37,500, he released \$20,000 to the client and told her that he would pay her the balance upon receipt of a check, again made payable to Contemporary Cars, Inc., in the amount of \$12,500. Gillin instructed her to send this check to his post office box. These arrangements dissatisfied the client and she began

inquiries which culminated in a complaint to the Bar. After the Bar began its investigation, Gillin made restitution to the client, effectively retaining only the \$5,000 the husband paid and a \$500 retainer that the client had initially paid.

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