IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case No. SC01-952
Complainant,	
V.	The Florida Bar File
OMAR JAVIER ARCIA,	No. 2001-70,370(11P)
Respondent.	

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

WILLIAM MULLIGAN
Bar Counsel
Florida Bar No. 0956880
The Florida Bar
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel Florida Bar No. 0253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Florida Bar No. 0123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

clients. This particular area of Scian's case would amount to "moonlighting" as it did not involve the surreptitious solicitation of firm clients as in Respondent's case.

Unlike Respondent, Scian handled his Bar matter in a forthright fashion. Scian fully and freely disclosed his records to the Bar and did not attempt to withhold any information. While Scian expeditiously attempted to right his wrongs, Respondent continued to play a game of cat and mouse with the Bar. Respondent did not provide the Bar with any statements until he was ordered to do so by the court. The first statement the Bar obtained from Respondent was his deposition which was provided with less than two weeks prior to the final hearing. Finally, unlike Respondent, Scian did not contest the Bar disciplinary proceedings as he entered into a consent judgment.

Clearly, when one views the different components of *Scian*, it is obvious that Respondent's actions were much more egregious. Even if the total amount of funds mishandled by Scian are tabulated, it still falls short of the client fees that Respondent embezzled from his firm. Accordingly, Respondent's actions warrant at least the same level of discipline as that meted out in *Scian*.

In *The Florida Bar v. Ellis*, *reported as table case*, 675 So.2d 122 (Fla. 1996), this court approved a consent judgment for a three year suspension for theft of firm fees. While Ellis, an attorney with no prior disciplinary history, was an associate at a

firm, he opened up a trust account in his own name and commenced receiving firm fees into said account. Similar to Respondent's case *Ellis* involved numerous misrepresentations and the theft of firm funds. It is important to note that the amount involved in Ellis' theft was at least \$20,000.00 less than that of Respondent.

In *The Florida Bar v. Barnett, reported as table case,* 675 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1996), this Court entered an order granting Barnett's 5-year resignation from the practice of law. Barnett was a partner at a firm wherein he took unauthorized firm funds. He had no prior disciplinary history and contended that he sincerely believed that the fees he took constituted an equitable entitlement for unique services that he had rendered to the firm. As an associate, Respondent would have a much less arguable claim to fees than that of a partner.

In *The Florida Bar v. Lynne*, *reported as table case*, 606 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1992), this Court entered an order granting Lynne's 5-year resignation from the practice of law. Lynne was a partner at a firm where he was responsible for not properly accounting for firm funds and for allowing the firm and the firm's auditors to believe that the firm records were adequate. As well, Respondent, an associate, deceived members of his firm and caused firm records to be inaccurate due to his transgressions.

In The Florida Bar v. Benchimol, 681 So.2d 663 (Fla. 1996), this Court held

that disbarment was warranted by an attorney's misappropriation of client trust funds, misappropriation of law firm funds, commingling of client and firm funds with personal funds, and his pattern of dishonesty and misrepresentation, notwithstanding his lack of prior disciplinary history. Similarly, Respondent's thefts in the instant case constituted a theft of firm funds and possibly a theft of client funds also. (ROR, pgs. 6-7).

The most significant difference between *Benchimol* and Respondent's case is the total amount of the misappropriations. *Benchimol* involved a total misappropriation of less than \$9,000.00 whereas the amount in Respondent's case was more than 7 times greater. In regard to client funds, Respondent accepted client payments due the firm. The firm did not, but could have, requested payment from these clients for unpaid fees. (ROR, pgs. 6-7).

In *The Florida Bar v. Roberto Rigal, Jr.*, Supreme Court case no. 95,793; The Florida Bar file no. 99-71,557(11E), a case pending at referee level where the respondent has signed a written stipulation agreeing to a disciplinary resignation, there is very similar misconduct to that of Respondent. The main difference at this stage is that Rigal has already been criminally prosecuted for his misappropriation of client funds. Rigal was found guilty of four felony counts, including 1 count of scheme to defraud, 2 counts of grand theft, and 1 count of offense against intellectual property by

modifying data in a computer without authority to do so. Rigal's behavior involved the theft of firm funds and his attempts to avoid being discovered. In comparison, Respondent has certainly committed grand theft. The fact that he has not yet been criminally prosecuted does not lessen the gravity of the offense.

In *In the Matter of Todd J. Thompson*, 991 P.2d 820 (Colo. 1999), the Supreme Court of Colorado held that the actions of attorney in misappropriating approximately \$15,000 in funds given to him by clients that he should have turned over to his law firm constituted conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, violated accepted standards of legal ethics, adversely reflected on his fitness to practice law, and violated rules governing trust accounts, and warranted disbarment.

Thompson was an associate at his firm who had no disciplinary history. The parties stipulated that he cooperated with the disciplinary authorities by self-reporting, by submitting to an interview with investigative counsel, and by joining in the petition for his own immediate suspension. Thompson claimed that he was suffering from personal and emotional problems during the time of his misconduct. Additionally, he made a timely good faith effort to make restitution to the firm, several witnesses testified that he had a good character and reputation, and he expressed remorse.

Many of the above factors in *Thompson* mirror those in Respondent's case. The main differences are the amount misappropriated and the fact that Thompson self-

reported to the investigative agency. Respondent misappropriated in excess of 4 times the amount involved in *Thompson*.

In *In the Matter of the Disciplinary Proceeding Against James P. Selden, an Attorney at Law*, 107 Wn.2d 246 (1986), the Supreme Court of Washington held that an attorney's misappropriation of \$6,810.40 in funds from his law firm warranted disbarment.

Selden misappropriated firm funds from April to October 1983, taking no client funds. Selden made restitution in full. Selden, an associate with the firm, claimed that he only took payments made by clients because he deserved and had been promised a bonus. In mitigation, Selden offered that he had no prior disciplinary record, he was under emotional and financial pressure centered around the dissolution of his marriage, he was remorseful, he since has worked for a law firm that gives him a high recommendation, he sought and received psychiatric treatment, and he cooperated with the bar proceedings.

Respondent offered many mitigating factors similar to those in *Selden*, but Respondent's theft was in excess of 9 times greater and it took place over a much longer period of time. The concurring opinion in *Selden* provided the following compelling language:

While we have followed a general rule that stealing from clients warrants disbarment, we have not addressed the question of the appropriate sanction for stealing from an attorney's employer. To give a more lenient sanction to this type of theft would only serve to encourage theft from an employer rather than a client. It would give the impression that certain types of theft are acceptable. All thefts are reprehensible and, absent extraordinary mitigating factors, warrant disbarment. *Id.* at 259.

In *In the Matter of Steven G. Siegel*, 133 N.J. 162 (N.J. 1993), the Supreme Court of New Jersey held that misappropriation of partnership funds warranted disbarment. The Court lessened the significance of Siegel's mitigation, including personal problems, a prior record which was unblemished and distinguished, and disillusionment with the conduct of other partners at the firm, due to the fact that misappropriation was involved.

The misappropriated funds in *Siegel* amounted to \$25,000 whereas in Respondent's case it was over 2 times greater. Additionally, Siegel as a partner had an arguable claim to entitlement to firm funds whereas Respondent did not.

In *Matter of Salinger*, 88 A.D.2d 133 (N.Y.A.D. 1982), the Supreme Court, Appellate Division, held that an attorney who, in a series of separate conversions, appropriated to his own use funds entrusted to him by clients for legal services, which funds were intended for the law firm by which respondent was employed, should be disbarred. The Court concluded that any attorney who converted funds entrusted to his custody is, presumptively, unfit to be a member of the Bar.

Salinger, a managing attorney at the firm, had a previously unblemished record. He made full restitution of the misappropriated funds which were less than \$15,000 and no client's case was found to have been mishandled. Yet, the Court was not persuaded that his conduct warranted anything other than disbarment. Once again, the misappropriation in Respondent's case was over 4 times greater.

In *Attorney Grievance Com'n of Maryland v. Nothstein*, 480 A.2d 807 (Md. 1984), the Court of Appeals held that conduct of obtaining in excess of \$40,0000 from law firm by submitting false expense claims warrants disbarment. As with all of the cases cited, Respondent's theft was in excess of that in *Nothstein*.

In Respondent's Initial Brief, a number of cases were cited that the Bar will clearly distinguish from the case at hand.

Respondent relies heavily upon *The Florida Bar v. Cox*, 655 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1995). In *Cox*, this Court held that a thirty day suspension was an appropriate sanction for dishonesty and misrepresentation toward employing law firm and clients in connection with "moonlighting". While Cox pursued one form of stealing from the firm, this Respondent's activities were much more varied. This Respondent engaged in several different forms of fraudulent misconduct which resulted in substantial costs to the firm. His behavior constituted cumulative misconduct.

Cox was found to have engaged in the representation of "outside" clients. The

Report of Referee in *Cox* reflects that the firm had an informal policy not to engage in outside employment which was not placed in the firm's employment manual until approximately two months before Cox's termination and Cox never reviewed the manual. Additionally, the Report contains no mention as to the amount of fees collected by Cox and restitution was not awarded to the firm as no audit was performed to ascertain the amount of the alleged deficiency. This Court in *Cox* noted that his wrongdoing "may not have caused serious harm to the clients or to the firm..." (at 1123).

On the contrary, Respondent's case is not about "moonlighting". Respondent engaged in the systematic and clandestine representation of existing or potential clients of the firm, not outside clients. Arcia's conduct did cause serious harm to clients and the firm i.e. neglect of a client, clients of Z & P who fired the firm, the use of the firm's resources for travel, etc. and financial deprivation of approximately \$62,000.00 of firm funds, as discussed above. Clearly, there are many significant distinctions between *Cox* and the case at hand to support the discipline imposed by the Referee in this case.

In *The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker*, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986), this Court held that diversion of fees thought to be with permission of president of professional association warrants only suspension for 90 days.

In *Stalnaker*, an associate took a portion of firm fees and gave the rest of them to the firm. The total amount that Stalnaker was charged with taking from the firm was \$36,922.00. Stalnaker claimed that the diversion of fees occurred because he thought it was with the permission of the partner who was president of the professional association. The referee found that Stalnaker "found himself in an office that was very disorganized and fairly unproductive monetarily" and that Stalnaker "became the main generating source of cases and legal and financial revenues for the firm" and that he had made restitution to the firm. *Id. at 816*. Additionally, the record in the case illustrated that Stalnaker carried a disproportionate amount of the workload and earned for the firm approximately twice what the partners in the firm generated. This Court found that while Stalnaker exercised extremely poor judgment, his actions fell short of a deliberate attempt to steal from the firm.

Respondent's case involves grand theft. Respondent can offer no entitlement to the fees whatsoever. Finally, testimony at the final hearing established that the business Respondent brought to the firm was a minute fraction of that produced by Mr. Zarco. (T. 58).

In *The Florida Bar v. Childers*, 582 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1991), this Court held that a 90-day suspension from the practice of law is warranted when attorney deposits check made out to attorney, but belonging to law firm, in attorney's personal savings

account.

The theft involved in *Childers* amounted to one check for \$950.00. Subsequently, Childers acknowledged her error and fully cooperated in the Bar proceedings. The court found that Childers did not cause any harm to her former firm or its clients, but rather the only person hurt by her conduct was Childers, herself.

Childers bares no resemblance to Respondent's case. As noted previously, Respondent engaged in the systematic and clandestine representation of existing or potential clients of Z&P for an extensive period of time. Additionally, Respondent admittedly deprived Z&P of approximately \$62,000.00 and there was substantial testimony as to the harm Respondent inflicted upon the firm and its clients. Finally, as mentioned earlier, Respondent has not been cooperative in the bar proceedings. h

The Florida Bar v. Bradham, 446 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1984), the attorney received a 30-day suspension for dishonesty in his relations with his law partners.

The allegations against Bradham as outlined in this Court's order and the Report of Referee are extremely vague. It is apparent, though, that Bradham was a partner at the firm. As an associate Respondent has no entitlement to a share of the firm's fees. Additionally, the charges against Respondent are well defined and amount to grand theft.

In The Florida Bar v. Herzog, 521 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 1988), the Supreme Court

held that attorney's engaging in deceptive billing practices that deprived his firm of unknown amount of fees constituted misconduct warranting ten-day suspension.

Herzog was a shareholder of the firm, not an associate. Additionally, no client complained about his behavior nor did any of them testify at a hearing. Also, in *Herzog*, it was not ascertained whether his billing practices deprived the firm of attorney fees or costs.

Herzog is not even remotely similar to Respondent's case. Respondent was not a shareholder of the firm, but rather an associate. A shareholder to a firm could have an arguable position to entitlement to fees whereas Respondent has no argument. Also, the Bar presented the testimony of two clients and Respondent stipulated to the testimony of three others where it was established that he made numerous misrepresentations to them and directed them to inappropriately pay fees directly to him. Finally, Respondent has admitted that he deprived the firm of approximately \$62,000.00.

In *The Florida Bar v. Gillin*, 484 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1986), the attorney was suspended for six months for the mishandling of certain fees which a client paid directly to him, rather than to the law firm in which the attorney was a partner.

Gillin, as a partner, contended his actions of having the client pay him directly would aid in resolving a dispute he had with the firm regarding the fee distribution

formula. Gillin took \$25,000.00 in fees and made restitution. Finally, no party suffered any real damage.

Once again, as Respondent was not a partner he can not even venture to make an argument to justify his absconding with \$62,000.00 of client fees. As well, there was substantial testimony of the harm Respondent inflicted upon the firm and its clients.

Justice Ehrlich, concurring in part and dissenting in part in *Gillin*, made the following compelling statement:

It is my opinion that stealing by a lawyer whether from a client, a member of the general public or from his law firm is utterly reprehensible, and that by such act the lawyer has forfeited his position in society as a member of the bar and an officer of the Court, and disbarment is the proper discipline. *Id. at 1221*.

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